AN ANALYSIS OF MEDIA LITERACY SKILLS AMONG CHINESE SINA WEIBO





AN ANALYSIS OF MEDIA LITERACY SKILLS AMONG CHINESE SINA WEIBO

USERS

Mengwei Zhang

This Independent Study Manuscript Presented to The Graduate School of Bangkok University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Master of Communication Arts



©2014 Mengwei Zhang All Rights Reserved

This Independent Study has been approved by the Graduate School Bangkok University

Title: AN ANALYSIS OF MEDIA LITERACY SKILLS AMONG CHINESE SINA WEIBO USERS

Author: Miss Mengwei Zhang

Independent Study Committee:

Advisor

(Assoc. Prof. Dr. Boonlert Supadhiloke)

Field Specialist

(Asst. Prof. Dr. Pacharaporn Kesaprakorn)

Asst. Prof. Dr. Sivaporn Wangpipatwong Dean of the Graduate School July 29, 2014 Mengwei Zhang. Master of Global Communication, July 2014, Graduate School, Bangkok University.

An Analysis of Media Literacy Skills among Chinese Sina Weibo Users. (67 pp.)

Advisor: Assoc. Prof. Booonlert Supadhiloke, Ph. D.

ABSTRACT

The purpose of this survey research is to examine the Chinese users' media literacy skills gained before and after using Sina Weibo, and to examine the effect of their before-and-after usage of Sina Weibo on their media literacy skills. Two hundred Chinese Social Networking Service users of Sina Weibo were being selected by using random sampling to participant in the survey research. The mean and standard deviation were being analyzed by Paired Sample T-Test to examine the difference of media literacy skills before and after the usage of Sina Weibo. The findings revealed that Chinese Social Networking Service users gained significantly higher media literacy skills after using Sina Weibo than media literacy skills before using Sina Weibo. The respondents gained significantly access skills, analytical skills, evaluative skills, creative skills, and participative skills after using Sina Weibo.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

This research would not have been completed without help of so many people. Firstly, I would like to express the deepest appreciation to my advisor Assoc. Prof. Dr. Boonlert Supadhiloke, who has always provided good advice and support to my research, giving confidence to me for each studying steps. This study wouldn't have been completed without my advisor's advice and guidance.

Second, I would like to express my sincere thanks to all of my classmates, who have supported me and took care of me all the time. I enjoy the time with you and appreciate having the opportunity to study with all of you.

In addition, I would like to thank to all the respondents who spent time to help me answer the questionnaires. The research can not be accomplished without your cooperation.

Lastly, I would like to thank Bangkok University for providing various resources. I also thank all faculty members from Bangkok University for all kinds assists with my research.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

Page

3.2 Population and Sample Selection	30
3.3 Research Instrument	30
3.4 Pretest of the Instrument	33
3.5 Data Collection	
3.6 Data Analysis	
CHAPTER 4: DATA ANALYSIS	35
4.1 Demographic Information Analysis	35
4.2 Results of Media Literacy Skills	40
4.3 Findings of Hypotheses Testing	43
CHAPTER 5: DISSCUSSION	47
5.1 Conclusion of this Research.	47
5.2 Findings and Discussion of this Research	49
5.3 Limitations	51
5.4 Recommendation for Further Application	51
5.5 Recommendation for Further Study	52
BIBLIOGRAPHY	
APPENDIX	
BIODATA	68
LICENSE AGREEMENT OF IS REPORT	69

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1: Media Literacy Review Frameworks. 10
Table 2.2: Core Concepts of Media Literacy
Table 2.3: The Basic Function of Sina Weibo 17
Table 3.1: The Results of Pretesting
Table 4.1: Demographic Information Classified by Age and Gender
Table 4.2: Residential Areas of Respondents
Table 4.3: Duration of Using Sina Weibo
Table 4.4: Frequency of Using Sina Weibo
Table 4.5: Education Background of Sina Weibo Users
Table 4.6: Monthly Income of Sina Weibo Users
Table 4.7: The Mean and Standard Deviation of Media Literacy Skills in Terms of
Access Skills40
Table 4.8: The Mean and Standard Deviation of Media Literacy Skills in Terms of
Analytical Skills41
Table 4.9: The Mean and Standard Deviation of Media Literacy Skills in Terms of
Evaluating Skills42
Table 4.10: The Mean and Standard Deviation of Media Literacy Skills in Terms of
Creative Skills
Table 4.11: The Mean and Standard Deviation of Media Literacy Skills in Terms of
Participative Skills43
Table 4.12: Paired Sample T-Test of Access Skills44
Table 4.13: Paired Sample T-Test of Analytical Skills44
Table 4.14: Paired Sample T-Test of Evaluating Skills45
Table 4.15: Paired Sample T-Test of Creative Skills
Table 4.16: Paired Sample T-Test of Participative Skills

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1a: Screen-capture of the English Version Interface of Sina Weibo	19
Figure 2.1b: Screen-capture of the English Version Interface of Sina Weibo	20
Figure 2.2: Screen-capture of Reporting Function of Sina Weibo	21
Figure 2.3: Screen-capture of Caution from Sina Weibo Official	22
Figure 2.4: Framework of Media Literacy and SCT	24
Figure 2.5: Theoretical Framework	28



CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Rationale and Problem Statement

Due to the development of technology, the forms of media have become diverse. In recent years, people all over the world have seen the tremendous growth of social media. Social media provide opportunities to connect with others and obtain a large amount of information everyday that can influence our life. Beyond all doubts, China being the worlds' second largest economy, social media is also an inundant phenomenon (Chiu, Ip, & Silverman, 2012). In Chinese language, micro blogging is translated to the word called "Weibo" (Chiu, Lin, & Silverman, 2012). Chinese micro blogging service, Sina Weibo is one form of social media that has a similar function to Twitter, and it is a platform that gives people chances to share information, publish short messages and create discussions on the Web (Gao, Ablel, Houben, & Yu, 2012). Gao and his partners also indicated that Sina Weibo is leading China micro blogging market since Twitter became unavailable in China. After Sina Weibo was launched in 2009, the number of active users reached 61.4 million by the end of 2013 ("Sina Says", 2014). Facing the changing environment of new media, the mode of information propagation is also experiencing transformation, which is calling the significance of high media literacy skills to users (Wang, 2013).

Media literacy is "the ability to access, analyze, evaluate, and communicate messages in a wide variety of forms" (Aufderheide, 1993, p.6). Due to the boom of Sina Weibo, the ability to use Sina Weibo properly has become an inevitable topic since millions of messages are posted everyday on Sina Weibo. People who are exposed to a great deal of messages from micro blogging, to some extent, it is transforming the ways to get information and recognize the world as well as changing the relationship between people and media. In addition, these kinds of changes somehow can be the driving force to push forward historical process of media literacy (Zhou, 2011). Ma (2014) regarded Weibo as one kinds of technology, which promotes exchange of information. She noted that everyone is able to become the information center and leads the direction of public opinions. Lei (2013) also suggested value Weibo users' media literacy skills situation in order to achieve their identity transition, from message spectators to message participants. Considering the power of social media, especially Sina Weibo, it is indispensable to investigate Sina Weibo users' media literacy skills before and after they use Sina Weibo. Therefore, to find the difference in media literacy skills that Sina Weibo has brought to them, this study carried out a comparative survey to measure the users.

1.2 Objectives of the Study

According to the previous studies, the researcher found that scholars mostly conducted researches on the methods to develop Weibo users' media literacy skills. Though they put emphasis on the importance of media literacy among micro blogging users, they ignored the kind of impacts micro blogging really have brought to the users. Without a clear understanding of micro blogging users' actual situation, the results of researches lack basis. Thus, this study fills the knowledge gap and converts the angle of previous researches. The objectives of this study are as below:

- 1. To analyze the media literacy skills which are applicable to Sina Weibo.
- To examine whether and how far the use of Sina Weibo has impact on media literacy skills among Chinese users.

1.3 <u>Research Questions</u>

What kinds of media literacy are applicable to Sina Weibo? Whether and how much does Sina Weibo impact Chinese users' media literacy skills?

1.4 Scope of Research

Since social media is basking in a great boom, media literacy becomes a topic worth studying. This study is conducted to discover weibo users' media literacy skills among weibo user, especially the impacts that Weibo has brought to the users. Thus, only cyber users will be selected as the sample. Sina Weibo is just one of micro blogging services in China. However, as what mentioned before, Sina Weibo acts as a leading role in China micro blogging market. Hence, only Weibo users are selected as respondents. According to Sina Weibo User Development Report (2013), the majority of Sina Weibo users are less than 24 years old that accounted for 53% percentage of all and those from 25~35 years old occurred about 37% out of all the users. A research conducted by Tencent Kid (2013) found that the development of body and mind of kids and adolescents are yet to mature. These kinds of people are easily affected by malicious information. In consideration of the immaturity of all aspects of people from this category, this paper studies those who finished compulsory education, which means above 15 years old in China. Quantitative method is adopted by using comparative questionnaire to examine whether users' media literacy skills have been impacted after they use Sina Weibo. Two hundred Sina Weibo users were selected by using random sampling to participate in the survey research. Five media literacy skills, access skills, analytical skills, evaluating skills, creative skills, and participative skills, were tested to examine the difference of media literacy skills before and after using Sina Weibo.

1.5 Significance of the Study

In China, media literacy is still a new topic waiting for more researches. This concept came into sight since 1997 and then got attention in 2003 (Liu, 2005; Hu, & Wang, 2007). Now that microblogging services are flourishing on this land, some researchers also began to attach importance to micro blogging users' media literacy study. According to the past researches, researchers mostly focused on the discussion

and suggestion of how to improve cyber users' media literacy skills. The problem is that previous researches failed to define what media literacy skills mean to micro blogging users. Comparing with the previous studies, this paper tries to explore and explain the exact distinction of media literacy skills influence before and after people use Sina Weibo. The result can provide a deeper analysis of Sina Weibo users' ability in managing media and media message. For further research, it could be the basis to study Sina Weibo's influence in our society in order to build a better network environment. It also will be helpful in explaining some social phenomenon happened in social media field.

1.6 Definition of terms

- Media literacy: The ability to access, analyze, evaluate and communicate messages in a variety of forms (Aufderheide, 1993, p.6).
- Media literacy skills: Media literacy focuses on the skills to analyze, evaluate, and create media and technology messages (Masterman, 1985; Messaris, 1994). In this study, media literacy skills include access, analyze, evaluate, create, and participate (Center of Media Literacy, 2008).
- (1). Access skills refer to the ability to search and collect information effectively with more vocabulary of words and symbols. Such skills mean both access to information and access to tools (Center of Media Literacy, 2008; Danish Technological Institute, 2011).
- (2). Analytical skills refer to the ability that understands the author's intention and how they construct and assume media messages (Hobbs, 2014). It's the ability to recognize media messages' form, structure, and sequence (Center of Media Literacy, 2008).
- (3). Evaluating skills are defined as the skills of making judgments about authenticity, quality, and pertinence of messages (Center of Media Literacy, 2008).

- (4). Creative skills refer to the ability to construct messages with various symbols and technologies creatively (Center of Media Literacy, 2008).
- (5). Participative skills refer to the ability to engage with others, participate in issues and make efforts to the society (Center of Media Literacy, 2008; Hobbs, 2011).
- Social media: A collaborate media that based on Web 2.0, and provide Internet-based platforms for creating, exchanging and sharing user-generated content (Kaplan & Haenlein, 2010; Collins, Rahilly, Richardson, & Third, 2011).
- 4. Social Networking Service (SNS) refers to the online systems that offer interactive communication functions for people to manage profile and keep in touch with other cyber users (Richter & Koch, 2008). It helps users to cultivate common interest, build a platform for discussion, communicate personal and social situation with others (Ahn, Han, Kwak, Moon, & Jeong, 2007).
- Micro blogging service: Microblogging is a new form of social media for users to share word limit messages with their followers, updating activities, thoughts, and status (Li, Zhang, Chen, Cao, & Zhou, 2014)
- Weibo means Micrblogging in Chinese language (Chiu, et al., 2012). Weibo also can be used as both verb and noun, which means post messages and microblogging posts respectively on Sina Weibo.
- Sina Weibo: One of Chinese Social Networking Services that owned by Sina Corporation. Sina Weibo provides a multimedia function rather than other similar service (Chiu, et al., 2012).

CHAPTER 2

LITERATURE REVIEW

This chapter aims to review past studies on media literacy skills and Sina Weibo. The researcher examines the definitions, principles, and related communication theory to develop the theoretical framework and hypotheses.

2.1 An Overview of Media Literacy

- 2.1.1 Definition of Media Literacy
- 2.1.2 Purpose of Media Literacy
- 2.1.3 Media Literacy Review Frameworks
- 2.1.4 Core Concepts of Media Literacy
- 2.1.5 Media Literacy Process Skills
- 2.2 An Overview of Sina Weibo
 - 2.2.1 Introduction to Sina Weibo
 - 2.2.2 The situation of Sina Weibo users
 - 2.2.3 The functions of Sina Weibo
 - 2.2.4 The characteristics of Weibo
- 2.3 Social Cognitive Theory
- 2.4 Recent Research about Sina Weibo and Media Literacy in China
- 2.5 Hypotheses and Theoretical Framework

2.1 An overview of media literacy

2.1.1 Definition of Media Literacy

Recent years, media literacy has become a big word that arises on various issues worthy of discussion. The word literacy contains a variety of concepts such as having the skills and knowledge to read, interprets, and creates certain texts and gaining the exact tools and capacities to participate in culture and community (Kellner & Share, 2005). With the advance in technology of media, there is a growing need to develop competence to manage media. The exact concept, definition, theoretical frameworks, settings, methods, and evaluation of media literacy have proved to be contentious (Luke, 1989).

Generally, media literacy is defined as "the ability to access, analyze, evaluate and communicate messages in a wide variety of forms" (Aufderheide, 1993, p.6). National Association for Media Literacy Education (NAMLE, n.d.) defined media literacy as a series of communication competencies. The National Communication Association (1998) also constructed a definition of it in communication field. The definition emphasized that a media literate person should have the capacity to understand how media is manufactured and "assign value, worth and meaning to media use and messages." Adams and Hamm (2001) indicated that media literacy is the ability to decode meaning of symbols from all kinds of media forms. To be a good decoder, people must be critical thinker who can understand the real media culture. Though the definition has developed in various forms over the years, Aufderheide's explanation is the most widely used one. This paper also uses the definition of media literacy based on Aufderheide's idea.

According to Hobbs's insight (1998), the definition of media literacy has been broadly developed to the process of analyzing and learning to create media messages critically. It shared the definition lies in the fact that media literacy not only means Information and Communication Technology skills but also contains critical, analytical, and creative skills (Vanwynsberghe, Boudry, & Verdegem, 2011). If we look throughout definitions given by scholars and organizations, we will find that media literacy scholars have highlighted critical thinking as key word. Action Coalition for Media Education (n.d.) encouraged civics to have critical thinking and free expression. Alliance for a Media Literate America (as cited in Heins & Cho, 2003) appealed for critical inquiry. To learn how to develop skills is much more important than just criticizing the media. The alliance believes that media empower people to think and create messages by the means of language, image and sound. It develops literacy skills (as cited in Center for Media Literacy, 2008). Despite the basic capabilities such as writing and reading skills, we can conclude that to deal with media messages with critical thinking is also essential part of media literacy.

As shown above, media literacy is a kind of ability that requires critical thinking. Therefore, the researcher believed the ability of media literacy is measurable. This study will survey media literacy situation among Sina Weibo users.

2.1.2 Purpose of Media Literacy

In these years, the awareness of the significance of media literacy has become more remarkable (Verezub, Grossi, Howard, & Watkins, 2008). The purpose of media literacy is also a top most discussed issue. Potter (2010) noted that most writers announced the purpose of media literacy is to improve the human being's life by empowering people to understand how the media messages will affect them. Some considered media literacy as an educational curriculum while some view media literacy as mode of social activism.

Since people enter in the information era, we have to access information all the time, actively or passively. What people face today is not only a great amount of information, but information that is produced at the tremendous speed. The problem is no longer on how to get access to information but to deal with information properly (Potter, 2005), Internet is playing quite essential role in our life because people cannot stop accessing to information. In order to have a better understanding of the distinction between real world and manufactured world, we should become more media literate. Media literacy makes people "watch carefully, think critically; participate actively (Center for Media Literacy, 2008, p.53)."

People now engage more in creating and participating online content under social media use than ever before (Vickery & Wunsch-Vincent, 2007). Livingstone (2004a) argued, media literacy "should be recognized as a key means, even a right, by which citizens participate in society and by which the state regulates the manner and purposes of citizens' participation (p. 20)." Media literacy plays a critical evaluation to protect against media messages that may cause negative effects (Martin & Grudziecki, 2006). A media literate person will have better ability to realize, think, and produce media messages.

In 2011, European Commission demonstrated the aim of media literacy is to make people recognize various media forms and contents. It assists in realizing how media influences and shapes people's perspectives and beliefs. In other words, media literacy makes citizens become more sensible and creative under overwhelming media information.

Facing the complicated and on-going changing environment of Internet, media literacy empowers people's competence to protect themselves from negative media effects.

2.1.3 Media Literacy Review Frameworks

In order to understand the essence of media literacy skills, it is necessary to review the structure and frameworks of media literacy. Therefore, the following pages will acknowledge the differences, and existing conceptual frameworks of media literacy.

Potter (2013) argued media literacy could be built from structures of knowledge. In order to establish such knowledge structures, people need tools, which mean skills. Most of media literacy frameworks are based on the definition created by Aufderheide, which emphasized four domains "access, analyze, evaluate and communicate". The four elements are also mentioned frequently in scientific and policy documents (Danish Technological Institute, 2011). Livingstone (2004b) regarded these four elements as interconnecting skills-based approaches. Each element can support the others elements and then form an ever changing learning process. Livingstone, Van Couvering and Thumim (2005) elaborated the elements to "basic media access and ownership, navigate, control, regulate, comprehend, critique, interact and create." Center for Media Literacy (2008) added "participate" to existing four basic elements and defined "access, analyze, evaluate, create and participate" as media literacy process skills. In addition, in European Commission's (Danish Technological Institute, 2011) standpoint, media literacy divides to personal competencies and social competencies. "Use and critical thinking" are part of personal competencies while "communicate and citizens participants" can be viewed as social competencies. European Commission (Danish Technological Institute, 2011) summarized and synthesized the consistency of eight key studies. From Table 2.1, we can have an overview of existing literature and conceptual consistency. In order to proceed, the researcher will follow CML' media literacy process skills and develop questionnaire upon five elements mentioned above.

Media Literacy framework					
Environmental Factors	Media availability Media content				
EAVI		EC	Ofcom	CML	NAMLE
	Use	Access	Access/Use	Access	Access
Personal competences Critical understanding	Analyze	Understand —	Analyze	Analyze	
	Evaluate		Evaluate	Evaluate	
Social	Communicate	Communicate	Create communications	Create	Communicate
competences	Citizen participation			Pariticipate	

Table 2.1: Media	Literacy Rev	view Frameworks

(Continued)

Media Literacy framework					
Environmental	Media availability				
Factors	Media content	2			
E	AVI	ACME	PIAAC	Livingstone	Martens
			Access Acquire	Basic access and ownership	
	Use	Access		Navigate	
Personal	1.00 Mar (1941)			Control	
competences	competences			Regulate	
	Critical	Analyze		Comprehend	Analyze
	understanding	Interpret	Evaluate	Critique	Evaluate
	c	Create	Perform	Create	Produce
Social	Communicate	Communicate Communicate	Produ	Produce	
competences	Citizen participation			Interact	

Table 2.1 (Continued): Media Literacy Review Frameworks

Source: Danish Technological Institute. (2011). *Testing and refining criteria to assess media literacy levels in Europe*. Brussels: European Commission.

2.1.4 Core Concepts of Media Literacy

The CML identifies five concepts that can be seen as core of media literacy. Kellner and Share (2005) summarized that these five core concepts refer to several topics about media which are the transparency, coding and decoding conventions, content and motivation of media. Masterman (1994) explained that media do not present reality but represent reality. Since there are diverse ways to code and decode messages, that's why people need skills to reexamine what media really is. Besides, the ability to see how multiply people can interpret the same message is necessary. The fourth concept explains the actual content of media messages which people embed purposeful values into the messages, and hence this concept focuses on questioning ideology, bias, and the connotations of media messages (Keller & Share, 2005). The last concept encourages people to discuss the role of media. If the power of media is concentrated, the diversity and creativity of media messages may be threatened (McChesney, 2004).

These five core concepts raise five key questions for message consumers and producer respectively, which can be guides to develop media literacy skills. These five questions are listed to query the truth of media, which will be explained in the following part.

Table 2.2: Core Concepts of Media Literacy

Core Concepts	Key Questions	
All media messages are con- structed.	Who created this message?	
Media messages are construct- ed using a creative language with its own rules.	What creative techniques are used to attract my attention?	
Different people experience the same media message differently.	How might different people un- derstand this message differently?	
Media have embedded values and points of view.	What values, lifestyles and points of view are represented in, or omitted from, this message?	
Most media messages are organized to gain profit and/or power.	Why is this message being sent?	

Source: Thoman, E. & Jolls, T. (2008). *Literacy for the 21st century: an overview and orientation guide to media literacy education*. Santa Monica, CA: Center for Media Literacy.

2.1.5 Media literacy Process Skills

Most researchers conceptualize media literacy by underlining following elements: (1) to access and use media and technology; (2) to analyze and evaluate the content, forms and contexts of media messages and media systems (3) to create media messages by using digital, visual and electronic tools for purposes of self-expression, communication and advocacy (Hobbs, 2007). European Union also emphasized that citizens should have the ability to use the media, to understand and to evaluate media contents critically and to create communications in a variety of contexts (European Union, 2009). The researcher here followed CML's suggestions to help ascertain the range and scope of media literacy skills. According to CML, there are five media literacy process skills which are "access, analyze, evaluate, create and participate". In this section, the researcher will examine the literature of these five skills.

Access skills

Hobbs (2011) identified access as basic competencies that need time to develop. Access is a prerequisite to literacy because media literacy can develop only when people get access to the media (Livingstone & Thumim, 2003). According to CML (2008), access is the ability to search and collect useful information so to get individual information or achieve entertainment goals (Wulff, 1997) as well as understand the meaning of information effectively. When people are equipped with access skills, they are able to recognize and comprehend more vocabulary of words and symbols. In the process of searching information, media literate people master advanced skills and methods to find relevant message. European Commission (2011) noted that access skills means both access to information and access to tools, thus containing the skills to use technology tools properly. It also including the ability to get and use information in a various media forms (Chen, 2007). Access skills also include knowing how to select right equipments and tools for an appropriate purpose (Jane, as cited in Kirwan, Learmonth, Sayer & Williams, 2003)

Analytical skills

Analytical skills mainly mean to understand the author's intention, how they construct and assume media messages (Hobbs, 2011). Aufderheide (1993) considered media messages as constructed information. The media messages shown are not as

13

transparent as the real world because media may shape and reconstruct the reality (Kellner & Share, 2005).

The phrase "critical media awareness" needs in applying the ability to analyze and question media messages through the media (Del-Moral & Villalustre, 2013). Media analysis and evaluation refer to decode messages and judge expected audiences, and assumed objectives. Media literacy encourages people to possess elaborate critical analysis skills of news, journalism, and entertainment media messages that may conducive to the citizens (Hobbs, 2007).

According to CML's document (2008), media literature people are able to recognize media message's form, structure, and sequence. When people analyze a media message, they should be capable of interpreting the purpose, audience, stand, format, main idea, and context of the message. They also can use strategies to understand the effects of media messages on the receiver (Chang, Liu, Lee, Chen, Hu and Lin, 2011).

Evaluating skills

Since the media may shape personalities, change perceptions and understanding of the world (Chang, et al., 2011), and even have potentially negative effects on audiences (Potter, 2010), the ability to evaluate media messages becomes essential.

CML (2008) defined "evaluate" as the skills of making judgments about authenticity, quality, and pertinence of messages. According to CML, when people evaluate messages, they are able to interpret messages in different forms and styles. Based on the content, media literature person will estimate inside elements and probable results of media messages to facilitate proper selection (Chang, et al., 2011). They should know how to evaluate the quality of a message and the reliability and credibility of different sources (Jenkins, 2009). In addition to the ability of judgment, Jenkins also noted the ability to challenge unsolicited or offensive media content and services. With good media literacy skills, one is capable to judge the value of a message through previous experience.

Creative Skills

Kahn and Kellner (2003) pointed out the requirements of "writing skills" in Internet environment, especially the importance of clarity and precision of expression. According to CML (2008), people "write" their opinions by using words, sounds, or images when they create messages. Bachmair and Bazalgette (2007) also agreed with the idea of using media creatively to express and communicate. It is worth nothing that such skills not only refer to write or create messages. Meanwhile those who have skills are able to make effective use of technologies to compose and spread messages.

CML gave a clear explanation of creation skills in details. It pointed out that when people create messages, firstly they should make use of their minds and brains. Then they need to master good writing and speaking skills of language. In spite of language skills, the ability to utilize various symbols and technologies to construct messages is also necessary.

Participative Skills

After all, media and media messages do not merely serve individuals, but help sublimate the society. The ability to use media for better society is the ultimate goal. According to CML, when people participate in constructing messages, they engage and interact with other people. Jenkins (2009) encouraged effective use of media for democratic rights and civic responsibilities.

Hobbs (2011) suggested using media literacy to "make a difference in the world," participate as a community member, and make efforts to solve problems in this society (p.12, p.18). This skill is utilized to solve problems in real world by connecting to relevant social issues and debates. Kamerer (2013) asserted that proper usage of media for individuals could help create effective communicators that serve for something larger such as social group, family, or government.

2.2 An Overview of Sina Weibo

2.2.1 Introduction to Sina Weibo

The rapidly advancing information technologies in social media have led to a

revolution in ways of communication with other people (Zhang & Ling, 2012). Micro blogging has developed as a recently emerging service because people can use it instantaneously and conveniently. Many people utilize it to publish and share messages about different topics (Java, Song, Finin, & Tseng, 2007). Weibo, generally meaning micro blogging in Chinese is a new emerging social media service. It developed from Twitter and partly shared same functions with Twitter. In August 2009, Sina Corporation, one of the Chinese portal sites, launched its beta version micro blogging service into the market. Although some other Chinese portal sites such as Sohu and Tencent also began to release their micro blogging website in 2010, there is no doubt that Sina Weibo is still the leading role in the market (Gao et al, 2012).

Up to the end of 2013, Sina Weibo numbered 61.4 million registered users as daily active users (Reuters, 2014). Through Sina Weibo, users could realize instant interaction by posting texts with photos, video, or locations wherever and whenever they want (Zhang, 2012). According to the data from Alexa, Sina Weibo is the 6th most visited website in China and the 27th in the world as of May 2013 (Alexa, 2013). Many Chinese mainstream media and organizations, government departments, and corporations have already created their official micro blogging accounts on Sina Weibo. Since Chinese micro blogging service have frequently discussed with respect to their capacity to bring the country social changes, it is significant to study the impacts that such service may cause.

2.2.2 Situation of Sina Weibo Users

According to China Internet Network Information Center (2013), the total figure of Chinese Internet users has already risen to 618 million by the end 2013, which is more than 40% of the country's population. Sina Weibo, as an indispensible social media platform, provides Chinese Internet users a well channel for communication.

Sina Weibo Official (2013) reported that 53% of its users are less than 24 years

old while the secondary huge population is between 25~35 years old by the end of November 2013. The percentages of Internet users with the education background of university and above as well as senior high school were 70.8% and 12.3% respectively. It shows that the users present a trend of getting younger and more educated. About the gender, both male and female occupied almost half percentages.

2.2.3 Introduction to Functions of Sina Weibo

Sina Weibo is fundamentally based on Twitter with basic micro blogging service and functions including instant message and comments. Sina Weibo has involved and integrated many functions from other social networking sites into its service (Cheng, 2013). Hence, Sina Weibo is more competitive than other kindred service. As shown from table 1, Sina Weibo provides such functions.

Function	Description
Weibo(Post)	Sina Weibo users can weibo (which means post) personal updates within 140-character limit and upload photos and videos.
Follow	Sina Weibo users can follow those who they want to follow. Once users follow another one's Weibo, they can get this person's instant updates.
Comment	Sina Weibo users can make comments to the posts that they are interested in. When clicking the link "Comments", all the comments of this post will be revealed.
Mention	Sina Weibo users can mention or talk to other people by using "@UserName" format.
Forward(Repost)	Sina Weibo users can forward (which means repost) the original post with personal comments.

Table 2.3: The Basic Function of Sina Weibo

Instant Search	Sina Weibo supports instant search. When users search
	keywords on Weibo, relevant posts will be displayed in
	chronological order.

(Continued)

Table 2.3 (Continued): The Basic Function of Sina Weibo

Like	Sina Weibo users can click "Like" to show support to particular posts.
Alert	When users get new comments or "@", they will receive alerts immediately.
Information Reporting	Users can report and inform wrong or inappropriate Weibo (post) to Sina officials. Once the officials accept the case, both informer and reported user will be put into an online court and then wait for the judgment by Sina officials and vote from neutral users.
Caution for false information	Once the information from any Weibo (post) is proved to be false, Sina officials will mark a caution to that post to remind other users.

From Table 2.3, we can see that except for basic functions such as post, comment and forward (Figure 2.1a & 2.1b), Sina Weibo also elaborately develops advanced functions. Through reporting function, users are able to report inappropriate posts or information to the Sina Weibo Officials. After that, the committee members will take the case and verify the information. Meanwhile, neutral Weibo users could vote and express personal opinions as bystanders to specific case (Figure 2.2). In order to prevent the spread of false information, Sina officially marks cautions to original untrue post to remind other users (Figure 2.3). Compare to other similar services, Sina Weibo initiates many new patterns in developing functions, which finally structure its own characteristics.

2.2.4 The characteristics of Weibo

Weibo has become a new information source for users to learn more about the world. Li (2012) believed that Weibo has become the fastest information platform undoubtedly. He defined Weibo as a prevalent and multifunctional social networking site within latest topics and critical opinions. According to Xu's statement, Weibo users can receive instant information and interact with others immediately, which shows advantages over other comparable services (2010).

Figure 2.1a: Screen-capture of the English Version Interface of Sina Weibo



On the basis of functions, Zhang (2012) summarized nine characteristics of Weibo, which differ from other means of network communication or traditional communication.

- Weibo is convenient to access from both technological and content-based perspectives. The convenience of Weibo provides opportunities for users to deliver messages timely and freely
- 2. Weibo reflects **anonymity**. According to Zhang, the advantage of anonymity is obviously, because it eliminates individual differences. Thus, Weibo users are able to speak out their opinions under an equal circumstance.
- Weibo reflects originality. The convenience of Weibo encourages the users' originality when they share information.
- 4. Users are able to become citizen reporters and share **real time information**, which challenges the traditional media.

 Messages shared on Weibo are more refined. It increases efficiency for users to access information in unit time.



Figure 2.1b: Screen-capture of the English Version Interface of Sina Weibo



Figure 2.2: Screen-capture of Reporting Function of Sina Weibo

Figure 2.3: Screen-capture of Caution from Sina Weibo Official

\rm 此内容为不实消息,已处理。 detail	The content is false information.
死于於细螺旋体病。追踪她喝的饮料,是直	- 多】一妇女喝了罐饮料,被送进医院,离开了世界.验尸 接用罐对嘴饮用.实验证明罐头受到鼠尿感染细螺旋 运输过程没有清洗的.喝易拉罐一定要用吸管! 请转
6-29 12:40 Via 皮皮时光机	▲(8) Forward(512) Favorite Comment(50)
relevant laws and regulations, caution v	"Sina Weibo Community Guideline " or phase> with shares and comments. In Sina Weibo Official

- 6. The limitation of characters may rustle in **information fragmentation** when users share information individually.
- 7. The **diversity of settings** supports users to filter useless information according to their concerns.
- 8. **Viral propaganda** of information on Weibo achieves social impacts when emergencies happen.
- 9. The most distinctive characteristic is that Weibo encourage **interaction** among users because users are able to obtain instant feedback from others through forward and comment functions.

From all above, researchers basically underlined interaction as indispensable feature of Weibo. Weibo help users to build relationship when they share and access information, and interact with others as well (Zhang, 2012). As a representative product among Weibo services, Sina Weibo possesses the characteristics above doubtlessly.

2.3 Social Cognitive Theory

Martens (2010) stated that the consequence of media literacy education is to affect how people reflect to media messages. Though few scholars did theoretical work to test empirical hypotheses, he also found some helpful connections between media literacy and communication theory. Martens pointed out that the key aspects of social cognitive theory can be explained and explore media literacy.

Social cognitive theory, developed by Bandura, stemmed from research on Social Learning Theory (SLT). Bandura (2001) proposed that human behaviors is influenced and shaped by external environmental factors or internal dispositions. According to social cognitive theory (SCT), social interaction counts among the factors that may impact human behavior. People widen their scope of knowledge and get understanding of causation in terms of personal and vicarious experiences. SCT asserts that people learn the world at the interactive level, which means they develop cognition not only from their own experiences, but also by observing others' behavior (Glanz & Rimer, 2005). SCT has been successfully applied as the fundamental theory for behavior change. In addition, Bergsma's research (2011) also provides some clues of the relationship among media environment, media literacy education, SCT and behavioral change. He stated that media environment, media literacy education, SCT are asymptotically influenced and finally result in behavioral change.

According to the preceding content, Sina Weibo successfully promotes interactivity in the communication. Li (2012) believes that Weibo's unique characteristics make Weibo an interactive channel where provides platform for various views and opinions to collide. Open discussion and debate may happen on Weibo all the time. That is to say, as a social media, Weibo builds an interpersonal environment for interaction. With Sina Weibo, users achieve interaction by observing others' behavior and then develop their personal cognitions and behaviors, which influence their media literacy skills.





2.4 Recent Research about Weibo and Media Literacy in China

As the development of media continues, Chinese audiences' media literacy skills are also improving. Media literacy education is to enhance and improve the ability to use media. With the innovation of technology and media channels, audience's media technological literacy is experiencing enhancement (Wang, 2012). Wang (2012) indicated that most people view Weibo as substitute of traditional media. For these people, Weibo means a platform to provide critical thinking and show hide information when significant events happen. The core function of Weibo is to publish and access information. Users are able to find required information on Weibo easily. Zhang and Pentina (2012) examined the motivations of users to use Weibo. The findings suggested that Weibo users use Weibo to express themselves, develop social relationships, and exchange assistance.

The researcher found that most of previous studies select university students as study populations. According to Liu and Zhu (2012), contemporary university students are equipped with reasonable media literacy. They are able to take advantage of Internet to access information, express opinions and interact with others. Due to the characteristics of micro blogging, messages and discussions of specific issues can spread rapidly. Thus the speed of dissemination through micro blogging, especially upon some social issues and sudden events, is much faster than through other media (Chen & Li, 2012). In the modern age, it becomes a trend that people eager to get diversified information. Micro blogging exactly satisfies such requirements (Cao, Dai, & Zhang, 2012).

In addition, the use of Sina Weibo in social issues is a topic worth studying. Qu, Huang, Zhang and Zhang (2011) studied the use and influence of Sina Weibo after a major disaster Yushu earthquake in China and found that users mostly use Sina Weibo to express opinions about the disaster, update situation, and support actions. Many social issues have been promoted through Weibo communication, showing that Weibo expands the areas for citizens to participate in social affairs.

Wang (2013) considered Weibo as a double-edged sword. According to Wang's opinion, there are four favorable factors for Weibo users to improve media literacy spontaneously. In spite of the factors we have already discussed in previous context, Wang mentioned the key words "critical thinking." Wang argued that Weibo users would select information and develop their critical thinking towards media when they are facing lots of information. He also valued Weibo's advantage in integrating users' power. He pointed out that Weibo drive media engagement from virtual world to reality, promoting democratic supervision. However, Wang indicated the negative influence of Weibo as well. The noise in the Weibo communication, like false information, may interfere with the user's judgments. According to Wang, to develop media literacy, "It's the best of times; it's the worst of times." Similarly, Han (2013) viewed Weibo as an emerging platform to criticize media as the superiority of Weibo is increasingly apparent, though, sometimes rational thinking is absent.

Yi (2011) first definitely assumed the use of Weibo as a new opportunity to promote media literacy. According to Yi's statement, Weibo is a platform for multi

source information. It is beneficial to analyze and judge media messages because users could track the source of the messages. Moreover, high frequency and high engagement of using Weibo provide chance for users to recognize the influence of media. Weibo affords a space for equal say and direct communication, which in favor of avoiding agenda settings. According to Yi, the use of Weibo enables users to think from different angles and check from multi-channel.

Sina Weibo is establishing a culture of public expression and diffusion of alternative ideologies in Chinese system that is showing an unprecedented social phenomenon (Liu & Pascual-Ferra, 2012). This study would mostly focus on media literacy and Sina Weibo, to analyze the impacts that the latter might bring to the former.

2.5 Hypotheses and Theoretical Framework

The researcher has utilized the assumptions of social cognitive theory in this study to explain the relationship between the variables, which are media literacy skills and the use of Sina Weibo. Social cognitive theory is an appropriate theory for this study, because the theory assumes that people learn the world upon what they observe and eventually their behavior may be affected.

Based on the above discussions of media literacy and Sina Weibo, the researcher proposed the following research questions:

RQ1: What kinds of media literacy are applicable to Sina Weibo?

RQ2: Whether and how much does Sina Weibo impact Chinese users' media literacy skills?

Research Questions ask about what and how impacts Sina Weibo may have on users' media literacy skills. As outlined above, the characteristics of Weibo determine it a specific platform to cultivate interaction, critical thinking and transparency of information. The ability to access useful information and think critically is crucial
component of media literacy skills. Hence, the hypothesis of this study is:

H1: The use of Sina Weibo would increase users' ability to access media messages.

H2: The use of Sina Weibo would increase users' ability to analyze media messages.

H3: The use of Sina Weibo would increase users' ability to evaluate media messages.

H4: The use of Sina Weibo would increase users' ability to create media messages.

H5: The use of Sina Weibo would increase users' ability to participate in media messages.









CHAPTER 3

METHODOLOGY

This chapter is to describe the methodology of this research. This chapter will introduce the research design, sample, instrument and procedure. The content of this chapter includes the following parts:

- 3.1 Research Design
- 3.2 Population Sample Selection
- 3.3 Research Instrument
- 3.4 Pretest of the Instrument
- 3.5 Data Collection Procedure
- 3.6 Data Analysis

3.1 Research Design

Ashley, Maksl and Craft (2013) indicated that media literacy may be topic specific. This research sought to contribute to the knowledge about the influence of Sina Weibo on users' media literacy skills. Hence, the goal of this study is to investigate current Sina Weibo users' media literacy skills by comparing the difference users' behavior before and after using Sina Weibo. This study focused more on developing a better understanding of whether and how far the use of Sina Weibo influences users' media literacy skills. The cross-sectional survey would be used to measure the skills.

Due to high interactivity of Weibo, users are able to send and receive messages at the same time. Though most of the study of media literacy are based on receivers' perspectives, Yin and Li (2010) pointed out that the research of Weibo users' media literacy situation should focus on both sender's and receiver's perspective. They indicated that as a receiver, people should know how to think critically about the messages they receive. Meanwhile, as a sender, social responsibility is necessary. Great voice means more responsibility to maintain media ecology. Combined with the functions of Sina Weibo, the items of the questionnaire would cover both senders and receivers' perspectives. Besides demographic information, users would be required to recall their media-literacy-skill-based behavioral change before and after they used Sina Weibo. Hence, all the items are in pairs.

However, the problem is that the measurement of media literacy skills is still a critical challenge in such field (Arke & Primark, 2009). From the previous studies, researchers have just developed instruments in view of specific topics, such as smoking (Primack, Gold, Switzer, Hobbs, Land, & Fine, 2006). The researcher would develop and test a new pilot measurement of media literacy skills based on the literature review. Items were formed according to composite conceptual models and administered to Sina Weibo users (n = 200).

3.2 Population and Sample Selection

In this study, the target population of sample was Chinese Sina Weibo users. Because previous research discover that kids and adolescents are more easily to negatively affected by Internet, only those who above 15 were selected to participate in this study (Tencent Kid, 2013). In order to make sure that all the participants can gain access to Internet, the surveys would launched online by using Simple Random Sampling method. Finally, only Sina Weibo users above 15 years old were accepted as sample.

3.3 Research Instrument

In this study, the questionnaire consists of two sections. The first section is to collect respondents' demographic data. The second section is to measure their media literacy skills.

Section 1: Personal Information Data

The questions in this section are set to investigate respondents' personal

demographic data. The items include questions about age, gender, location, education background, Sina Weibo use habits, and monthly income and so on. Items 1-7 were designed for collecting demographic data.

Section 2: Media Literacy Skills

As was stated above, media literacy is generally defined as "the ability to access, analyze, evaluate and communicate messages in a wide variety of forms" (Aufderheide, 1993). CML (2008) has adopted this definition and Hobbs' work (2011) that further defines media literacy skills. The researcher used the core principles mainly developed by CML and other scholars to underlie the conceptual framework of media literacy skills. Thus, the measurement of media literacy skills consisted of five domains: access, analyze, evaluate, create and participate. CML and Hobbs have already given elaborated explanation and statement to all five domains. The researcher used these core principles to underlie the items in the instrument. In order to combine these five domains and topic, the researcher adapted the content to Sina Weibo specific. To compare the difference before and after users use Sina Weibo, a Likert-type scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree) was used to measure the five domains. As what was mentioned before, Yin and Li (2010) suggested that receivers are supposed to be alert when they identify media messages on Weibo. Likewise, senders should express rationally and constructively through media. Inspired by Yin and Li, not only the ability to examine media messages as a receiver, the responsibility to sell messages properly would also be measured. And in creative skills part, only senders' perspective would be measured. Paired Sample T-Test would be employed to test the difference of media literacy skills between means before and after the users used Sina Weibo.

Access skills:

Access skills are mainly about the ability to select and utilize useful information and interpret the meaning effectively (CML, 2008). Hence, items (items 8-11) were to test users' ability in accessing and understanding information.

Analytical skills

Critical thinking is an essential element in media literacy, which reflects in deciphering and judging media message (Kellner & Share, 2005). Covington (2004) also stated that media literate person should be capable to view and evaluate media content critically. Thus, items (items 12-16) in this part and following part (items 17-24) would emphasize to test users the ability of critical thinking.

When people have the ability to analyze message, they could examine the design of message and notice the context under the message (CML, 2008). In this section, the items are to measure whether the users could analyze the design of media messages critically as both senders and receivers.

Evaluating skills:

CML (2008) stated that when people are equipped with such skills, they are able to assess the truth and quality of media messages. In this part, the items were designed to test users' ability of examining the reality of what they get from the media. This domain assesses whether Sina Weibo users can detect media messages with critical attitude. Items include questions to assess the ability of judging the quality and the source of media messages from both senders and receivers' perspectives. In addition, the sense of responsibility as a sender also has been noted as required media literacy skills by Zhang and his partner (2011). Hence, the sense of responsibility would be tested by investigating whether the users would concern the possible results when they communicate messages.

Creative skills:

Creative skills are more than general writing skills. Such skills include the ability to increase influences of created messages. In this domain, items (items 25-26) were designed to test users' ability in selecting and structuring messages for effective use. Beyond that, objective self-expression is also one of tested items.

Participative skills:

According to CML (2008), participative skills include the ability of engagement

and interaction with other people. Hobbs (2011) defined it as "take an action". In this domain, items (items 27-29) were designed to test whether users are able to effectively interact with others and engage in social development after they used Sina Weibo.

3.4 Pretest of the Instrument

Table 3.1: The Results of Pretesting

The instrument of this study is developed both from previous researches and the research self. In order to test the reliability of the instrument, a pretest was conducted. The questionnaire was delivered to 30 people before formal testing. Crobach's alpha coefficient was used to test the reliability. The results showed as below:

Media Literacy Skills	Items	Alpha (Before)	Alpha (After)
Access Skills	Items 8-11	.7639	.7137
Analytical Skills	Items 12-16	.6924	.7958
Evaluating Skills	Items 17-24	.8097	.7034
Creative Skills	Items 25-26	.7270	.7012
Participative Skills	Itemsn 26-27	.7666	.8053
Total	//	.9012	.8954

Table 3.1 shows that the Crobach's alpha coefficient was .9012 (>.07) before using Sina Weibo and .8954 (>.07) after using Sina Weibo.

3.5 Data Collection Procedure

Considering that our target sample are Chinese Sina Weibo users, all the items would be translated into Chinese language by the researcher. In order to reduce translation errors and understanding gaps, the questionnaire was translated and confirmed by a back translator, who can speak both English and Chinese.

The questionnaire was randomly delivered online through online survey service website sojump.com. It assured that all the respondents are cyber and Sina Weibo

users, which means all of them have the access to Social Networking Service. Before the respondents answer the questionnaires, the purpose of this questionnaire was presented. Only Sina Weibo users above 15 years old were required in this study. The whole process took about 5 months. Ultimately, 200 respondents were accepted.

3.6 Data Analysis

After the data collection, SPSS (Statistical Product and Service Solutions) program would be used to analyze the data. In order to test the hypotheses, the researcher would compare difference between users' media literacy skills before and after users used Sina Weibo. Hence, Paired-Samples T-test would be used to examine if there are significant difference between these two situations. Since the questionnaire used a Likert-type scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree), the researcher defined the average level of media literacy by calculating the class interval.

*Note: (5-1)/4=0.8

1.00 - 1.80 = Very low 1.81 - 2.60 = Low 2.61 - 3.40 = Medium 3.41 - 4.20 = High 4.21 - 5.00 = Very High

CHAPTER 4

DATA ANALYSIS

This research conducted questionnaire survey to collect data. SPSS (Statistical Product and Service Solutions) program was used to analyze the data collected. In this chapter, the researcher will present all data analysis covering research objectives into three parts respectively.

- 4.1 Frequency Distribution of Descriptive Variables
- 4.2 Results of Media Literacy Skills
- 4.3 Findings of Hypotheses Testing

4.1 Frequency Distribution of Descriptive Variables

The first part focuses on the descriptive information of whole 200 respondents. This part includes the data of age, gender, residential areas in China, duration of use Sina Weibo, frequency of using Sina Weibo, and monthly income. The results are showed as below:

Characteristics	Frequency (pers	sons) %
Age:	VDFL	
Less than 15		-
15 – 25 years	99	49.5
26 – 35 years	77	38.5
36 – 45 years	17	8.5
46 – 55 years	7	3.5
Over 55 years	-	-
Total	200	100
		(Continued)

Table 4.1: Demographic Information Classified by Age and Gender

Gender:		
Male	93	46.5
Female	107	53.5
Total	200	100

Table 4.1(Continued): Demographic Information Classified by Age and Gender

The results in Table 4.1 show that the majority of respondent's age is from 15 to 25 years old with 49.5 percent. In addition, the 26 – 35 age group accounts for 38.5 percent while the 36 – 45 age group accounts for 8.5 percent of the respondents. Those who aged from 46 to 55 rank the lowest, 3.5 percent. About the gender, according to the study, the majority of respondents are female (53.5 percent). And 46.5 percent are male.

Residential ureas (in China)	Frequency (persons)	%
Shanghai	34	17
Beijing	21	10.5
iangsu	17	8.5
Zhejiang	16	8
Guangdong	16	8
Shandong	10	5
Chongqing	9	4.5
Sichuan	9	4.5
Guangxi	8	4
Henan	8	4
Jujian	8	4

Ta

(1
Hubei	7	3.5
Liaoning	5	2.5
Jiangxi	4	2
Jilin	4	2
Anhui	4	2
Hebei	3	1.5
Heilongjiang	3	1.5
Tianjin	3	1.5
Yunnan	3	1.5
Hunan	2	1
Shanxi	2	1
Gansu	1	0.5
Hainan	1	0.5
Shaanxi	1	0.5
Sikiang	1	0.5
Total	200	100

Table 4.2(Continued): Residential Areas of Respondents

From Table 4.2, the majority of respondents are from Shanghai (17.0 percent) Followed by Beijing, which accounts for 10.5 percent, Jiangsu, Zhejiang and Guangdong with 8.5 percent, 8 percent and 8 percent respectively.

Duration of using Sina Weibo:	Frequency (persons)	%
Less than 0.5 year	7	3.5
0.5-1 year	29	14.5
1-2 year	49	24.5

Table 4.3: Duration of Using Sina Weibo

2-3 years	60	30
More than 3 years	55	27.5
Total	200	100

Table 4.3(Continued): Duration of Using Sina Weibo

About the duration of using Sina Weibo, Table 4.3 illustrates that 30.0 percent of the respondents have used Sina Weibo for 2-3 years. Secondly, those who have used for more than 3 years accounts for 27.5 percent while 1-2 years for 24.5 percent.

About the frequency of using Sina Weibo, the majority of respondents expressed that they use Sina Weibo everyday (73.0 percent), followed by 16.5 percent who use Sina Weibo every few days.

Table 4.4: Frequency of Using Sina weldo						
Frequency of using Sina Weibo:	Frequency (persons)	%				
Everyday	146	73				
Every few days	33	16.5				
Several times a month	13	6.5				
Not use for long time	8	4				
Total	200	100				

Table 4.4: Frequency of Using Sina Weibo

Table 4.5: Education Background of Sina Weibo Users

Frequency (persons)	%
3	1.5
11	5.5
35	17.5
	(persons) 3 11

Bachelor's degree	123	61.5
Master's degree	26	13
Doctorate degree	2	1
Total	200	100

Table 4.5 (Continued): Education Background of Sina Weibo Users

About the education background: Most respondents (61.5 percent) have got or are studying for bachelor degree. Secondly, there are 17.5 percent of respondents graduated from or are studying at college. Followed by 13.0 percent of respondents have got or are studying for master's degree.

Frequency % Income (CNY): (persons) No Income 57 28.5 7 Under 2,000 yuan 14 59 29.5 2001 - 4000yuan 4001 - 600039 19.5 yuan 6000 - 800016 8 yuan 15 Over 8000 yuan 7.5 Total 200 100

Table 4.6: Monthly Income of Sina Weibo Users

* Note: Yuan is Chinese currency.

About the monthly income: For the majority of respondents, the average monthly income is 2001-4000 yuan with 29.5 percent, followed by 28.5 percent and 19.5 percent of respondents who have no monthly income and 4001-6000 yuan respectively.

4.2 Results of Media Literacy Skills

This part presents the levels of five media literacy skills which include: (1) Access skills; (2) Analytical skills; (3) Evaluating skills; (4) Creative skills and (5) Participative skills by using mean (\overline{X}) and standard deviation (S.D). Before presenting the results of five skills, the researcher would define the level of skills first. Because the questionnaire utilized a Likert-type scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree), the level of skills would be defined according to the class interval. The average level of media literacy skills is as below:

1.00 - 1.80 = Very low 1.81 - 2.60 = Low 2.61 - 3.40 = Medium 3.41 - 4.20 = High 4.21 - 5.00 = Very High

Table 4.7 illustrates that before starting to use Sina Weibo, the majority of respondents are equipped with medium access skills (Mean = 3.25). Then after using Sina Weibo, the majority of respondents showed high level (Mean =4.08) in access skills. Through comparison of all mean values of access skills, the table showed that the ability to access messages from different perspectives increased the most (Mean=4.07).

Table 4.7: The Mean (\overline{X}) and Standard Deviation (S.D.) of Media Literacy Skills in Terms of Access Skills

			After			
Access skills	Ā	S.D.	Meaning	X	S.D.	Meaning
Q8 Access						
Extensive	3.32	0.72	Medium	4.15	0.63	High
Information						
Q9 Understanding	2 20	0.86	Medium	4.13	0.62	High
Symbols	3.28	0.80	wiedium	4.13	0.63	High

40

Q10 Access Message Sources	3.33	0.73	Medium	3.99	0.71	High
Q11 Access Different Perspectives	3.07	0.8	Medium	4.07	0.68	High
Total	3.25	0.58	Medium	4.08	0.46	High

Table 4.7 (Continued): The Mean (\overline{X}) and Standard Deviation (S.D.) of Media Literacy Skills in Terms of Access Skills

Table 4.8 illustrates that before starting to use Sina Weibo, the majority of respondents are equipped with medium analytical skills (Mean = 3.23). Then after using Sina Weibo, the majority of respondents have high level (Mean =3.78) in analytical skills. The table showed that, after using Sina Weibo, the ability to understand media operate increased the most compare to other analytical skills (Mean=3.71).

 Table 4.8: The Mean (\overline{X}) and Standard Deviation (S.D.) of Media Literacy Skills in

 Terms of Analytical Skills

	Before			After		
Analytical skills	X S.D. Meaning		Ā	S.D.	Meaning	
Q12 Analyze1 My Goal and Target Groups	3.45	0.86	High	3.85	0.78	High
Q13 Analyze Media Operate	2.91	0.85	Medium	3.71	0.81	High
Q14 Analyze Sender	3.28	0.89	Medium	3.81	0.79	High
Q15 Analyze Receiver	3.25	0.87	Medium	3.74	0.78	High
Q16 Analyze Message Purpose	3.28	0.86	Medium	3.81	0.71	High
Total	3.23	0.63	Medium	3.78	0.56	High

Table 4.9 shows that before starting to use Sina Weibo, most of respondents are equipped with medium evaluating skills (Mean = 3.23). After using Sina Weibo, most of them have high level (Mean = 3.88) in evaluating skills. Most respondents showed the most significant difference in doubting the authenticity of media messages before and after they started to use Sina Weibo (Mean=4.05).

	Before	K	JIVI	After		
Evaluating skills	Ā	S.D.	Meaning	X	S.D.	Meaning
Q17 Investigate Before Communicate	3.4	0.88	Medium	3.9	0.77	High
Q18 Concern Possible Impacts	3.4	0.83	Medium	4.09	0.69	High
Q19 Discover Bias	3.19	0.77	Medium	3.82	0.69	High
Q20 Doubt Authenticity	3.25	0.85	Medium	4.05	0.7	High
Q21 Check Authenticity	3.16	0.86	Medium	3.75	0.86	High
Q22 Compare Sources	3.19	0.78	Medium	3.66	0.76	High
Q23 Discover Hiden Messages	3.01	0.84	Medium	3.84	0.73	High
Q24 Detect Advertisement	3.24	0.86	Medium	3.92	0.7	High
Total	3.23	0.58	Medium	3.88	0.48	High

Table 4.9: The Mean (\overline{X}) and Standard Deviation (S.D.) of Media Literacy Skills in Terms of Evaluating Skills

Table 4.10 indicates that before the respondents starting to use Sina Weibo, most of them had high level in creative skills (Mean = 3.49). After using Sina Weibo, most of them have high level (Mean =3.92) in creative skills.

	Before			After			
Creative skills	$\overline{\mathbf{X}}$	S.D.	Meaning	$\overline{\mathbf{X}}$	S.D.	Meaning	
Q25 Objective Expression	3.52	0.79	High	3.9	0.68	High	
Q26 Structure Messages Effectively	3.46	0.78	High	3.94	0.63	High	
Total	3.49	0.67	High	3.92	0.56	High	

Table 4.10: The Mean (\overline{X}) and Standard Deviation (S.D.) of Media Literacy Skills in Terms of Creative Skills

From Table 4.11, the participative skills among respondents are at medium level (Mean=3.22). After using Sina Weibo, most of respondents have high level (Mean =3.85) in participative skills. The respondents have already obtained a high level in maintain relationships before using Sina Weibo. The ability of engagement increased the most among all skills (Mean= 3.82).

Table 4.11: The Mean (\overline{X}) and Standard Deviation (S.D.) of Media Literacy Skills in Terms of Participative Skills

Doutioin atime skills	Before			After	After			
Participative skills	Ā	S.D.	Meaning	Ā	S.D.	Meaning		
Q27 Use Media Power	3.16	0.71	Medium	3.81	0.76	High		
Q28 Engage in society	3.06	0.81	Medium	3.82	0.77	High		
Q29 Maintain Relationships	3.43	0.74	High	3.91	0.7	High		
Total	3.22	0.59	Medium	3.85	0.6	High		

4.3 Hypotheses Testing: The Effect of Sina Weibo on Media Literacy Skills

In the study, there are five hypotheses. The hypotheses are showed as below: H1: The use of Sina Weibo would increase users' ability to access media messages.

H2: The use of Sina Weibo would increase users' ability to analyze media messages.

H3: The use of Sina Weibo would increase users' ability to evaluate media messages.

H4: The use of Sina Weibo would increase users' ability to create media messages.

H5: The use of Sina Weibo would increase users' ability to participate in media messages.

To test the hypotheses, Paired Sample T-test was applied to find the differences of media literacy skills between before and after using Sina Weibo. The results of T-test are showed as below:

Before After Media literacy Ā Ā skills S.D. S.D. t-test Sig. Access skills 3.25 0.58 4.08 0.46 17.244* .001

Table 4.12 shows that the mean value of access skills before using Sina Weibo is 3.25 and after using Sina Weibo is 4.08. The pair t-Test indicates a statistically significant difference in before using Sina Weibo and after using Sina Weibo (t-Test =

Table 4.13: Paired Sample T-Test of Analytical Skills

17.244 p<0.01). The table shows that H1 is significantly supported.

Table 4.12: Paired Sample T-Test of Access Skills

Media literacy	Before		After			
skills	Ā	S.D.	Ā	S.D.	t-test	Sig.
Analytical skills	3.23	0.63	3.78	0.56	11.263*	.001

Table 4.13 shows that the mean value of analytical skills before using Sina

Weibo is 3.23 and after using Sina Weibo is 3.78. The pair t-Test indicates a statistically significant difference in analytical skills before using Sina Weibo and after using Sina Weibo (t-Test = 11.263 p < 0.01). The table shows that H2 is significantly supported.

Table 4.14: Paired Sample T-Test of Evaluating Skills

Media literacy	Before		After			
skills	Ā	S.D.	Ā	S.D.	t-test	Sig.
Evaluating skills	3.23	0.58	3.88	0.48	15.724*	.001

Table 4.14 shows that the mean value of evaluating skills before using is 3.23 and the after is 3.88. The pair t-Test indicates a statistically significant difference in evaluating skills before to use the Sina Weibo and after to use the Sina Weibo (t-Test = 15.724 p < 0.01). It means that H3 is significantly supported.

Table 4.15: Paired Sample T-Test of Creative Skills

Media literacy	Before		After			
skills	Ā	S.D.	Ā	S.D.	t-test	Sig.
Creative skills	3.49	0.67	3.92	0.56	9.294*	.001

Table 4.15 shows that the mean value of creative skills before using Sina Weibo is 3.49 and after using Sina Weibo is 3.92. The pair t-Test indicates a statistically significant difference in creative skills before using Sina Weibo and after using Sina Weibo (t-Test = 9.294 p < 0.01). The table shows that H4 is significantly supported.

Table 4.16: Paired Sample T-Test of Participative Skills

Media literacy	Before		After			
skills	$\overline{\mathbf{X}}$	S.D.	$\overline{\mathbf{X}}$	S.D.	t-test	Sig.
Participative skills	3.22	0.59	3.85	0.6	15.424*	.001

Table 4.16 shows that the mean value of participative skills before using Sina Weibo is 3.22 and after using is 3.85. The pair t-Test indicates a statistically significant difference in participative skills before using Sina Weibo and after using Sina Weibo (t-Test = 15.424 p < 0.01). The table shows that H5 is significantly supported.



CHAPTER

DISCUSSION

This chapter describes the discussion and conclusion of this research. The researcher will discuss the real impact of Sina Weibo on users' media literacy skills. In addition, the limitations and suggestions for further study will also be discussed. The summary of chapter 5 is listed as below:

5.1 Conclusion of this Research

- 5.2 Findings and Discussion of this Research
- 5.3 Limitations
- 5.4 Recommendation for Future Application
- 5.4 Recommendation for Further Study

5.1 Conclusion of this Research

This research served as an exploratory study in uncovering the impact of Chinese Social Networking Service: Sina Weibo on media literacy. This study sought to analyze the media literacy skills which are applicable to Sina Weibo and examine whether and how far the use of Sina Weibo has impact on media literacy skills among Chinese users. The researcher uniquely focused on the topic of media literacy and Sina Weibo. This study also contributed to fill the knowledge gap of current study of media literacy and Sina Weibo. CML (2008)'s statement of media literacy skills was applied in this study. In this research, two research questions were raised, and five hypotheses were tested.

The results of descriptive variables showed young people between 15 - 25 years old are the majority of Sina Weibo users. Most of them come from Shanghai, Beijing, Zhejiang, and Jiangsu and other areas. With regard to the usage situation of Sina Weibo, about 30 percent users have used Sina Weibo for 2 - 3 years while 27.5

percent users have used for more than 3 years. The majority of respondents have use Sina Weibo everyday with 73.0 percent. In respect to their educational background, 61.5 percent of the samples completed bachelor's degree, followed by College degree with 17.5 percent. The majority of respondents have the average monthly income 2001 – 4000 Chinese yuan with 29.5 percent. With 28.5 and 19.5 of respondent who have no monthly income and 4001 – 6000 Chinese yuan, respectively.

The results of access skills of Sina Weibo showed the highest mean in the ability to access information from different perspectives. The results of analytical skills showed that the users understand more about media operations and are capable to analyze the purpose and source of messages than before using Sina Weibo. The results of evaluating skills showed that the users are much more sensitive about the authenticity, bias and hidden story of media messages than before. The results of creative skills present an apparent difference of creativity before and after using Sina Weibo. The results of participative skills showed that the ability to engage in society increased the most among all skills.

The results of this hypotheses suggested that the use of Sina Weibo is positively related to media literacy skills, which are access skills, analytical skills, evaluating skills, creative skills, and participative skills. The researcher hypothesized that after using Sina Weibo, users' five media literacy skills will increase significantly. The users are supposed to have more ability to access, analyze, evaluate, create and participate in media messages. In order to test hypotheses, a questionnaire with 200 samples who are Sina Weibo users was conducted. In the questionnaire, the respondents were asked to recall the difference of their media literacy skills before and after they used Sina Weibo. Then the researcher used Paired Sample T-Test to measure the difference. From the results, we can see significant differences of these five media literacy skills before and after users used Sina Weibo. The results are

consistent with the researcher's hypotheses and also extended Yi (2011)'s statement that Sina Weibo can become an opportunity to promote media literacy. Yi suggested the relationship between Sina Weibo and media literacy with non-system based illustration. This study verified Yi's assumptions and also contributed to further study of media literacy skills in the scope of Sina Weibo.

5.2 Findings and Discussion of this Research

According to social cognitive theory, people realize the world and develop cognition through the interaction with others and the observation to the environment. It explains how Sina Weibo users gradually get affected in the environment of Sina Weibo. From personal level, individuals improve and adjust themselves through communication and feedback from other Weibo users (Zhuang, 2013). To some extent, Zhuang regarded it as a kind of intrapersonal communication, which actually reflects the real society and finally impacts and drives the social practices.

The findings of hypothesis one suggested that the use of Sina Weibo can increase access skills. Based upon comparison of mean values, the results showed that access skills increased with highest mean amongst the users. According to Yu (2010), the core function of Sina Weibo is to publish and access information. When traditional media channels and sources of information couldn't effectively meet all needs of users, the value of Weibo can be embodied. The results revealed that after using Sina Weibo, users are able to access more messages from different angles than the past. During the 7.23 bullet train accident in China 2011, Sina Weibo was the first platform to publish this news at the same moment the accident happened, which is two hours earlier than media report (Gao, 2012). Weibo empowers audiences to access first hand information, showing that media are no longer the only source. The use of Weibo isn't limited to time, space, and objective condition, thus, Weibo enables users get opinions and suggestion from different perspectives.

The findings of hypothesis two and three suggested that the use of Sina Weibo can increase analytical and evaluating skills. In the literature review, the researcher has highlighted the importance of critical thinking. Precisely because Weibo provides convenience for all users to share and get messages, people can't deny all negative impacts that Weibo may cause, for example, the spread of rumors. In order to avoid such situation, Sina Weibo developed various distinctive functions which reflect its uniqueness. In Chapter 2, the researcher has detailedly introduced the unique functions of Sina Weibo. To decrease rumors, false messages on Sina Weibo would be marked caution. This function serves as the role of gate-keeper. Moreover, neutral users also could evaluate reported disputable messages, express personal opinions and vote for whom they support. It builds supervisory function of the media and raises awareness to behave cautiously. The transparency of Weibo messages provides users opportunities to track the source of messages in order to analyze and judge the quality of the messages. Yu and Deng (2013) stated that Weibo users tend to question the media, weaken the power of framing and deconstruct the framed agenda. It revealed that citizen's consciousness is waking up under development of media technology, especially Weibo technology.

In addition, the results of frequency distribution of descriptive variables in Chapter 4 showed that the respondents from urban or developed areas occupied a large portion of the whole samples. Most of them are well educated and have college degree or beyond. The activeness of the users is also in a high level. The situations of the respondents are in close agreement with the results given by Sina Weibo User Development Report 2013. It supported Li (2013)'s arguments that since the quality of Weibo users are generally high, the function of agenda setting can be weakened to certain extent.

The results of hypothesis four suggested that the use of Sina Weibo can increase creative skills. The results of hypothesis five confirmed that the use of Sina Weibo can increase participative skills, which means users are tend to interact more with others and engage more in solving problems before they started to use Sina Weibo. Danish Technological Institute (2011) defined creative and participative skills as social competencies. Hobbs (2011) indicated that the dimension of such skills ultimately contribute to real world. When analyzing the items, the researcher found that after using Sina Weibo, users are much more tend to utilize or engage in media. From the social public level, due to the characteristics of Sina Weibo, users have the right to be citizen journalists. That means everyone has equal rights to achieve or use same power as media. Users are able to both initiate and join in the issues through the functions of Sina Weibo. The real engagement can be realized by the reactions.

5.3 Limitations

1. As an explorative research, this study also includes some limitations. As a popular Social Networking Service, Sina Weibo owns 61.4 active registered users. This study is limited by the sample size of 200. The restricted number of respondents cannot be generalized by all the Sina Weibo users. A larger sample size can be used in further study. Additionally, it's a cross-sectional research, which also impeded the research period and depth.

2. Secondly, due to the lack of relevant journal and research articles, there were limitations with regard to information about Sina Weibo and media literacy. In Chapter one, the researcher have already pointed out the gap in literature. It justified the significance to do this research.

3. Thirdly, this research paper is a quantitative research, which may overlook some of users' inner thoughts. The skills showed in questionnaire may not cover all media literacy skills in the scope of Sina Weibo.

5.4 <u>Recommendation for Future Application</u>

1. For Media Literacy Education: Media Literacy is a quite new topic in China. The findings suggested that the use of Sina Weibo would be positively related to users' media literacy skills. Besides media education curriculum, this study provides a new perspective to promote media literacy into practice level in China.

2. For Sina Weibo: Sina Weibo and kindred sites such as Sohu Weibo and Tencent Weibo can focus more on relevant topic in order to develop much improved functions and services to support media literacy education.

5.5 <u>Recommendation for further study</u>

1. Media literacy, as a huge literacy system, is related to some other literacy such as digital literacy and information literacy (Koltay, 2011). Limited to time and relevant studies, this study just examines the impacts on media literacy. Further studies could extend the impacts of using Sina Weibo on other literacy skills.

2. The results of hypothesis 5 showed that after using Sina Weibo, users are more likely to engage in social issues and participate in solving problems. Previous studies by Yi (2011) and Li (2013) mentioned that the use of Sina Weibo may weaken the influence of media agenda setting. Cohen (1963) argued that the press "may not be successful much of the time in telling people what to think, but it is stunningly successful in telling its readers what to think about (p.13)." The use of Sina Weibo promotes interaction and initiative, which provides users more opportunities to participate in issues. During 2010 Yushu Earthquake, Sina Weibo played an important role as civilian platform for citizens to join the rescue (Qu, Huang, Zhang & Zhang, 2011b). The use of Sina Weibo reveals the potential to citizenship agenda, which raise issues from bottom to up instead of media setting. In the future study, researcher can focus more on such topic to study the effect of Sina Weibo on citizenship agenda setting.

Bibliography

- Action Coalition for Media Education. (n.d.). *ACME's three-part solution*. Retrieved from http://acmecoalition.org/about_acme
- Adams, D. & Hamm, M. (2001). *Literacy in a multimedia age*. Norwood, MA: Christopher-Gordon.
- Ahn, Y. Y., Han, S., Kwak, H., Moon, S., & Jeong, H. (2007). Analysis of topological characteristics of huge online social networking services. In *Proceedings of the 16th international conference on World Wide Web* (pp. 835-844).
 Retrieved from http://www2007.org/papers/paper676.pdf
- Alexa. (2013). *Top Sites The top 500 sites on the web*. Retrieved from http://www.alexa.com/topsites
- Arke, E. T. & Primack, B. A. (2009). Quantifying media literacy: development, reliability, and validity of a new measure. *Educational media international*, 46(1), 53-65.
- Aufderheide, P. (Ed.) (1993). *Media Literacy: A report of the national leadership conference on media literacy*. Aspen, CO: Aspen Institute.
- Ashley, S., Maksl, A., & Craft, S. (2013). Developing a news media literacy scale. *Journalism & Mass Communication Educator*, 68(1), 7-21.
- Bandura, A. (2001). Social cognitive theory of mass communication. *Media psychology*, *3*(3), 265-299.
- Bachmair, B., & Bazalgette, C. (2007). The European charter for media literacy: Meaning and potential. *Research in Comparative and International Education, 2*(1), 80-87.
- Bergsma, L. (2011). Media Literacy and health promotion for adolescents. *The Journal of Media Literacy Education*, *3*(1), 25-28.
- Cao, L., Dai, Z., & Zhang, H. (2012). Analysis of Gansu College students' media literacy based on the micro-blog. *Science Economy Society*, 2(2012), 166-172.

- Chang, C., Liu, E., Lee, C., Chen, N., Hu, D., & Lin, H. (2011). Developing and validating a media literacy self-evaluation scale (MLSS) for elementary school students. *Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology*, 10(2), 63-71.
- Center for Media Literacy. (2008). *Literacy for the 21st Century. Literacy for the 21st Century: An Overview and Orientation Guide to Media Literacy Education*. Retrieved from http://www.medialit.org/literacy-21st-century
- Chen, G. (2007). Media (literacy) education in the United States. *China Media Research*, *3*(3), 87-103
- Chen, Y. & Li, Y. (2012). The ideological and political education research under mass incidents by micro-communication. *Education Review*, *5*, 78-80.
- Cheng, B. (2013). *Microblogging Politics in China and the West: How does Sina Weibo different from Twitter*? Asian Media Information and Communication Centre - 22nd International Conference. Retrieved from http://amic.org.sg/conference/AMIC2013/Full%20Papers/A5/Berry%20Cheng .pdf
- Chiu, C., Ip, C., & Silverman, A. (2012). Understanding social media in China. *McKinsey Quarterly*, *2*(2012), 78-81.
- Chiu, C., Lin, D., & Silverman, A. (2012). China's social-media boom. *McKinsey and Company*. Retrieved from

http://www.mckinseychina.com/wp-content/uploads/2012/04/McKinsey-Chinas- Social-Media-Boom.pdf

- China Internet Network Information Center. (2014) Statistical Report on Internet Development in China, Retrieved from http://www1.cnnic.cn/IDR/ReportDownloads/201404/U020140417607531610 855.pdf
- Collin, P., Rahilly, K., Richardson, I., & Third, A. (2011). *The benefits of social networking services*. Retrieved from http://researchrepository.murdoch.edu.au/11804/

- Covington, W. G. (2004). Creativity in teaching media literacy. *International Journal of Instructional Media*, *31*(2), 119-124.
- Cohen, B. C. (1963). *The Press and Foreign Policy*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Del-Moral, M. E. & Villalustre, L. (2013). Media literacy, participation and accountability for the media of generation of silence. *Comunicar*, 20(40), 173-181.
- Danish Technological Institute (2011). *Testing and Refining Criteria to Assess Media Literacy Levels in Europe*. Retrieved from http://ec.europa.eu/culture/media/media-content/media-literacy/studies/final-re port-ml-study-2011.pdf
- European Union. (2009). *Media literacy in the digital environment*. Retrieved from http://europa.eu/legislation_summaries/information_society/strategies/am0004 _en.htm
- Gao, Q., Abel, F., Houben, G. J., & Yu, Y. (2012). A comparative study of users' microblogging behavior on Sina Weibo and Twitter. In User Modeling, Adaptation, and Personalization (pp. 88-101). Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Gao, F. (2012). Mass media the dual character of micro blog and mass communication theory. Science & Technology for China's Mass Media, 10, 116-119.
- Glanz, K. & B. K. Rimer. (2005). *Theory at a glance: A guide for health promotion practice*. (2nd ed.). Washington, DC: National Cancer Institute, National Institutes of Health, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.
- Han, X. (2013). Promoting Cyber Users' Media Literacy. Jilin Daily, p.14.
- Heins, M. & Cho, C. (2003). Media literacy: An alternative to censorship. NY: Free Expression Policy Project.
- Hobbs, R. (1998). The seven great debates in the media literacy movement. *Journal of Communication, 48*(1), 6-32.

- Hobbs, R. (2007). *Approaches to instruction and teacher education in media literacy*. Retrieved from http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0016/001611/161133e.pdf
- Hobbs, R. (2011). *Digital and Media Literacy: Connecting culture and classroom*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin.
- Hu, L. & Wang, J. (2007). The development and absence of media literacy research in Mainnland China. *Journal of Hebei University: Philosophy and Social Science*. 32(1), 26-32.
- Java, A., Song, X., Finin, T. and Tseng, B. (2007). Why we twitter: understanding microblogging usage and communities, *Proceedings of the 9th WebKDD and 1st SNA-KDD 2007 workshop on Web mining and social network analysis* (pp. 56-65). ACM. Retrieved from http://ebiquity.umbc.edu/ file directory /papers/369.pdf
- Jenkins, H. (2009). Confronting the challenges of participatory culture: Media education for the 21st century. Mit Press.
- Kaplan, A. M. & Haenlein, M. (2010). Users of the world, unite! The challenges and opportunities of Social Media. *Business horizons*, 53(1), 59-68.
- Kamerer, D. (2013). Media Literacy. *Communication Research Trends*. *32*(2013). Retrieved from http://www.highbeam.com/doc/1G1-325491105.html
- Kahn, R. & Kellner, D. (2003). Internet subcultures and oppositional politics. In D.Muggleton (Ed.), *The post-subcultures reader*. London: Berg.
- Kellner, D. & Share, J. (2005). Toward critical media literacy: Core concepts, debates, organizations, and policy. *Discourse: Studies in the cultural politics of education*, 26(3), 369-386.
- Kirwan, T., Learmonth, J., Sayer, M., & Williams, R. (2003). Mapping Media Literacy. Retrieved from http://www.ofcom.org.uk/static/archive/itc/research/mapping_media_literacy. pdf

Koltay, T. (2011). The media and the literacy s: media literacy, information literacy,

digital literacy. Media, Culture & Society, 33(2), 211-221.

Lei, H. (2013, May 30). Improve media literacy education, Turn Weibo users to message participants. *China Industrial Economic News*, p. B2.

Livingstone, S. (2004a). What is media literacy? Intermedia, 32 (3). 18-20.

- Livingstone, S. (2004b). Media literacy and the challenge of new information and communication technologies. *The Communication Review*, 7(1), 3-14.
- Livingstone, S. & Thumim, N. (2003). Assessing the media literacy of UK adults: A review of the academic literature. Retrieved from http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/21673/1/Assessing_the_media_literacy_of_UK_adults. pdf
- Livingstone, S., Van Couvering, E., & Thumim, N. (2005). *Adult media literacy: A review of the research literature*. Retrieved from http://dera.ioe.ac.uk/5283/1/aml.pdf
- Li, D., Zhang, Y., Chen, X., Cao, L., & Zhou, C. (2014). Detecting hot topics in Sina Weibo Based on Opinion Leaders. In 2014 International Conference on Computer, Communications and Information Technology (CCIT 2014). Atlantis Press. Retrieved from http://xuebao.neu.edu.cn/natural/CN/article/downloadArticleFile.do?attachTyp e=PDF&id=332
- Li, H. (2012). Weibo's influence on collective action participation in China.Unpublished Master's Thesis, Masaryk University, Brno, Moravia, Czech Republic.
- Liu, W. (2005). Analysis of China media literacy education situation and difficulty in application. *Press Circles, 1*, 28-29.
- Liu, Y. & Pascual-Ferra, P. (2012). The micro revolution in Macro China? How Chinese independent candidates are framing political messages through microblogging. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the International Communication Association, Sheraton Phoenix Downtown, Phoenix,

AZ Online. Retrieved from <u>http://citation.allacademic.com/meta/p556281_inde</u> <u>x.html</u>

- Liu, T. & Zhu, W. (2012). A case study of university students' media literacy. *New West. 10*, 167-168.
- Luke, C. (1989). *Pedagogy, printing, and protestantism: The discourse on childhood.* NY: State University of New York Press.
- Martens, H. (2010). Evaluating media literacy education: Concepts, theories and future directions. *The Journal of Media Literacy Education*, 2(1), 1-22.
- Martin, A. & Grudziecki, J. (2006). DigEuLit: Concepts and tools for digital literacy development. *Innovation in Teaching And Learning in Information and Computer Sciences*, *5*(4), 249-267.

Masterman, L. (1985). Teaching the media. London: Routledge.

- Masterman, L. (1994). A rationale for media education: First part. In L, Masterman & F. Marier, *Media education in 1990s' Europe: a teacher's guide* (pp. 5-87). Council of Europe.
- McChesney, R. (2004). *The problem of the media: U.S. communication politics in the 21st century*. NY: Monthly Review Press.
- Messaris, P. (1994). *Visual literacy: Image, mind and reality*. Boulder. CO: Westview Press.
- Ma, Y. (2014). The Cultivation of Media Literacy among University Students under Microblogging Environment. *Today's Mass Media*, 5, 151-152
- National Association for Media Literacy Education. (n.d.). *The Core Principles of Media Literacy Education*. Retrieved from

http://namle.net/publications/core-principles/

National Communication Association. (1998). K-12 speaking, listening, and media literacy standards and competency statements. Retrieved from http://www.natcom.org/uploadedFiles/About_NCA/Leadership_and_Governa nce/Public_Policy_Platform/K-12Standards.pdf

- Potter, W. J. (2005). *Media Literacy* (3rd ed.), CA: Sage Publications.
- Potter, W. J. (2013). Media literacy (7th ed.), CA: Sage Publications.
- Potter, W. J. (2010). The state of media literacy. *Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media*, *54*(4), 675-696.
- Primack, B. A., Gold, M. A., Switzer, G. E., Hobbs, R., Land, S. R., & Fine, M. J. (2006). Development and validation of a smoking media literacy scale for adolescents. *Archives of pediatrics & adolescent medicine*, 160(4), 369-374.
- Qu, Y., Huang, C., Zhang, P., & Zhang, J. (2011a). Microblogging after a major disaster in China: a case study of the 2010 Yushu earthquake. In *Proceedings of the ACM 2011 conference on Computer supported cooperative work* (pp. 25-34). Retrieved from http://personal.stevens.edu/~rchen/readings/yushu.pdf
- Qu, Y., Huang, C., Zhang, P., & Zhang, J. (2011b). Harnessing social media in response to major disasters. In CSCW 2011 Workshop: Designing Social and Collaborative Systems for China. Hangzhou, China.
- Richter, A. & Koch, M. (2008). Functions of social networking services. In Proc. Intl. Conf. on the Design of Cooperative Systems (pp. 87-98). Springer. Retrieved from

http://research.ihost.com/cscw08-socialnetworkinginorgs/papers/richter_cscw 08_workshop.pdf

Sina Corporation. (2013). Sina Weibo User Development Report 2013, Retrieved from

http://data.weibo.com/report/detail/report?copy_ref=zuYT1rJriAgUC&_key= 2VmtCZx&

Tencent Kid. (2013). 2012 Sixth Internet Usage Situation of Juveniles Report Release. Retrieved from Tencent Kid Web site:

http://kid.qq.com/a/20130717/014322.htm

Center for Media Literacy. (2008). *Literacy for the 21st Century: An Overview and Orientation Guide to Media Literacy Education*. Santa Monica, CA: Center for Media Literacy. Retrieved from

http://www.medialit.org/sites/default/files/mlk/01 MLKorientation.pdf

- Vanwynsberghe, H., Boudry, E., & Verdegem, P. (2011) Mapping social media literacy: Towards a conceptual framework. Retrieved from http://emsoc.be/wp-content/uploads/2012/01/emsoc-WP2-MICT-deliverable1 _14.pdf
- Verezub, E., Grossi, V., Howard, K., & Watkins, P. (2008). Building e-based literacy for vocational education and training students. *Australasian Journal of Educational Technology*, 24(3), 326-338.
- Vickery, G. & Wunsch-Vincent, S. (2007). Participative web and user-generated content: web 2.0, wikis and social networking. Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development.
- Wang, X. (2012). The cultivation of Weibo users' media literacy. *Today's massmedia*. *1*, 87-88.
- Wang, L. (2013). The study on media literacy of new media users: Taking microblog application for example. (Master's thesis, Nanjing University).
- Wulff, S. (1997). Media literacy. In W. G. Christ (Ed.), Media education assessment handbook (pp. 123-142). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Xu, Z. (2010). An analysis of communication advantage and development prospect of micro blogging. *Today's mass media*, 1, 35-36.
- Yin, Z. & Li, K. (2012). About the media literacy of the micro blog user. In Hu, Z. & Dai, Y (Eds.). New Media and Modern China Society. Shanghai: Shanghai Jiaotong University Press.
- Yi, C. (2011). Weibo: The new opportunity to promote media literacy. *Media. 10*, 53-55
- Yu, G. (2010). Weibo value: Core, extended and additional functions. *News & Writing, 3*, 61-63.
- Yu, X. & Deng, L. (2013). Oppositional reading towards Main Stream Media: The

exploration and analysis of Weibo users. Media Time, (3), 45-49.

- Reuters (2014, Feb). Sina says Weibo daily active users up 4 pct to 61.4 million *Reuters*. Retrieved from http://www.reuters.com/article/2014/02/25/sina-results-users-idUSB9N0LF00 W20140225
- Zhang, L. & Pentina, I. (2012). Motivations and usage patterns of Weibo. Cyberpsychology, *Behavior, and Social Networking, 15*(6), 312-317.
- Zhang, S. (2012). *The micro blog culture research*. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, Jilin University, Jilin, China.
- Zhang, H. & Zhang, C. (2011). The new requirements for university students in micro blogging times, China Newspaper Industry, 1, 28-29.
- Zhang, L. & Wang, L. (2012). A comparative study of information diffusion in weblogs and microblogs based on social network analysis. *Chinese Journal of Library and Information Science*, 5, 51-66.
- Zhou, Y. (2011). The attempting discussion of public media literacy in micro blogging era. *Media Observer, 7,* 42-43.
- Zhuang, Y. (2013). *The research on media ecology of Chinese Microblog*. Unpublished Master's thesis, Hunan University, Hunan, China.



Questionnaire

This questionnaire is to examine Sina Weibo users' media literacy situation. Please recall your personal situation in terms of following items and choose the answer. Thank you for your cooperation. The results of the surveys will only used for educational purpose.

Section 1 Personal Data

1. What's your age?

□ A. Less than 15 □ B. 15-25 □ C. 26-35 □ D. 36-45 □ E. 46-55 □ F. 55+

2. What's your gender?

 \Box A. Male \Box B. Female

3. Where do you come from? (Chinese geographic area)

 \Box A. Anhui \Box B. Beijing \Box C. Chongqing \Box D. Fujian \Box E. Gansu \Box F.

Guangdong 🗆 G. Guangxi 🗆 H. Guizhou 🗆 I. Hainan 🗆 J. Hebei

 \Box K. Heilongjiang \Box L. Henan \Box M. Hong Kong \Box N. Hubei \Box O. Hunan

D. P. Jiangsu D. Q. Jiangxi D. R. Jilin D. S. Liaoning D. T. Macao

 \Box U. Inner Mongolia \Box V. Ningxia \Box W. Qinghai \Box X. Shandong \Box Y. Shanghai

 \Box Z. Shanxi \Box AA. Shaanxi \Box AB. Sichuan \Box AC. Taiwan

AD. Tianjin AE. Sikiang AF. Tibet AG. Yunnan AH. Zhejiang

4. How long have you used Sina Weibo?

 \Box A. Less than 0.5 year \Box B. 0.5~1 year \Box C. 1~2 year \Box D. 2~3 year \Box E.

More than 3 years

5. How often do you use Sina Weibo?

 \Box A. Everyday \Box B. Every few days \Box C. Several times a month \Box D. Not use for long time

6. What is the highest level of education you have completed?

 \Box A. Junior middle school or equivalent \Box B. High school or equivalent

 \Box C. College \Box D. Bachelor's degree \Box E. Master's degree \Box F. Doctorate

degree \Box G. Professional degree

7. What's your monthly income? (Chinese currency)

 \Box A. No Income \Box B. Under 2,000 yuan \Box C. 2001~4000 yuan \Box D.4001~6000

yuan \Box E. 6000~8000 yuan \Box F. Over 8000 yuan

Section 2 Media Literacy Skills of Sina Weibo

This part of questionnaire would like to ask about Sina Weibo users' media literacy situation.

5 = Strongly Agree; 4 = Agree; 3 = Medium; 2 = Disagree; 1 = Strongly Disagree

		e read the following content and then ate how strong you agree with the items.	5	4	3	2	1
Access	8.	A. Before I started to use Sina Weibo, I have the ability to access extensive information to broaden my vision.					
		B. After I started to use Sina Weibo, I have the ability to access extensive information to broaden vision.	P				
	9.	A. Before I started to use Sina Weibo, I understood meaning of a lot of words, symbols and messages.B. After I started to use Sina Weibo, I	51				
		understood meaning of a lot of words, symbols and messages.	Y				
	10	A. Before I started to use Sina Weibo, I know the source to acquire information.B. After I started to use Sina Weibo, I					
	11.	know the source to acquire information. A. Before I started to use Sina Weibo, I					
		can easily get the information from different angles.					
		B. After I used Sina Weibo, I can easily get the information from different angles on Weibo.					
Analyze	12.	A. Before I started to use Sina Weibo, when I communicated, I knew my purpose and target audience clearly.					
		B. After I used Sina Weibo, when I posted, I know my purpose target audience clearly.					
	13.	A. Before I started to use Sina Weibo, I knew the way media operate.B. After I used Sina Weibo, I knew the					
	14.	way media operate. A. Before I started to use Sina Weibo,					
		when I get information from media, I					

		Imay who is conding massage to me				
		know who is sending message to me.			+	
		B. After I used Sina Weibo, when I get				
		information on Weibo, I know who is				
		sending message to me.				
	15	A. Before I started to use Sina Weibo,				
		when I get information from media, I				
		know who the target audiences of these				
		messages are.				
		B. After I used Sina Weibo, when I get				
		information on Weibo, I know who the				
	16	target audiences of these messages are.				
	16	A. Before I started to use Sina Weibo,				
		when I get information from media, I				
		know what the purpose of the message				
		is.				
		B. After I used Sina Weibo, when I get				
		information on Weibo, I know what the				
		purpose of the message is.				
Evaluat	17.	A. Before I started to use Sina Weibo, I				
	17.	checked the authenticity of the	C			
e				-		
		information when I communicated with				
		others.				
		B. After I used Sina Weibo, I checked				
		the authenticity of the information				
		when I posted or reposted it on Weibo.				
	18.	A. Before I started to use Sina Weibo,				
		when I distributed information to				
		others, I cared about the possible				
		impacts.				
		B. After I used Sina Weibo, when I				
		posted information to my followers, I				
	1.0	cared about the possible impacts.				
	19	A. Before I started to use Sina Weibo,				
		when I get information from media, I				
		might find the bias of the message.				
		B. After I used Sina Weibo, when I get				
		information on Weibo, I might find the				
		bias of the message.				
	20	A. Before I started to use Sina Weibo,				
	20	when I get information from media, I				
		-				
		might doubt the authenticity of the				
		message.				
		B. After I used Sina Weibo, when I get				
		information on Weibo, I might doubt				
		the authenticity of the message.				
	21	A. Before I started to use Sina Weibo,				
		when I doubt the authenticity of				
	1		1	1	1	

	Г		r		1		
		information from media, I tend to					
		investigate the truth.					
		B. After I used Sina Weibo, when I					
		doubted the authenticity of information					
		on Weibo, I tend to investigate the					
		truth.					
	22	A. Before I started to use Sina Weibo, I					
		could compare and evaluate					
		information from different sources.					
		B. After I used Sina Weibo, I could					
		compare and evaluate information from					
		different sources.					
	23	A. Before I started to use Sina Weibo, I					
		can discover the part of the story that is					
		not being told by the media.					
		B. After I used Sina Weibo, I can		1			
		discover the part of the story that is not					
		being told by media.					
	24	A. Before I started to use Sina Weibo, I					
	24	could judge what message is	` (P)				
		advertisement.					
		B. After I used Sina Weibo, I could					
C t	25	judge what message is advertisement.		4			
Create	25.	A. Before I started to use Sina Weibo, I					
		could objectively express my opinion.					
		B. After I used Sina Weibo, I could					
		objectively express my opinion	N .				
		through. Weibo.					
	26	A. Before I started to use Sina Weibo, I					
		could choose and structure effective					
		information to achieve my goal.					
		B. After I used Sina Weibo, I could					
		choose and structure effective					
		information to achieve my goal.					
Particip	27	A. Before I started to use Sina Weibo, I					
ant		would use the power of media to solve					
		my problem					
		B. After I used Sina Weibo, I would use					
		the power of media to solve my					
		problem.					
	28	A. Before I started to use Sina Weibo, I				T	
		would engage in the issue that reported					
		by the media.					
		B. After I used Sina Weibo, I would					
		engage in the issue that reported on					
		Weibo.					
		•					

29.	A. Before I started to use Sina Weibo, I			
	could keep good social relationship.			
	B. After I used Sina Weibo, I could			
	keep good social relationship.			



BIODATA

Name – Surname: Contact Number: E-mail: Education: 2012 – 2014 Mengwei Zhang (+66) 0825576371 yj_cnn@outlook.com

Master Degree of Communication Arts at Bangkok University, Bangkok, Thailand

Language:

Chinese: Native Language English: Fair

Interests:

Swimming Traveling

References:

Bangkok University

License Agreement of Dissertation/Thesis/ Report of Senior Project

Day 15 Month Nov. Mr./Mrs./Ms. MENGWFI. ZHANG now living at Soi Street DAMA Sub-district Sed Kholom District Province Postal Code 12110 being a Bangkok University student, student ID 75503 vo 382 Degree level 🗆 Bachelor 🖾 Master Doctorate Program M. Com. Arts Department Graduoto School School hereafter referred to as "the licensor"

Bangkok University 119 Rama 4 Road, Klong-Toey, Bangkok 10110 hereafter referred to as "the licensee"

Both parties have agreed on the following terms and conditions:

1. The licensor certifies that he/she is the author and possesses the exclusive rights of dissertation/thesis/report of senior project entitled <u>An analy Gig A Media</u> <u>Uteray gkills among Unneg Gina Weibo Users</u> submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirement for <u>M. Com. Byter</u>

of Bangkok University (hereafter referred to as "dissertation/thesis/report of senior project"). 2. The licensor grants to the licensee an indefinite and royalty free license of his/her dissertation/thesis/report of senior project to reproduce, adapt, distribute, rent out the original or copy of the manuscript.

3. In case of any dispute in the copyright of the dissertation/thesis/report of senior project between the licensor and others, or between the licensee and others, or any other inconveniences in regard to the copyright that prevent the licensee from reproducing, adapting or distributing the manuscript, the licensor agrees to indemnify the licensee against any damage incurred. This agreement is prepared in duplicate identical wording for two copies. Both parties have read and fully understand its contents and agree to comply with the above terms and conditions. Each party shall retain one signed copy of the agreement.

